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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
Southern Division

ABRAHAM MALLIK, *
Plaintiff, *

V. *
Civil CaseNo.: PWG-12-1725
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, SECRETARY, *
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

AND HUMAN SERVICES, *
Defendant. *
*
* * * * * * * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM OPINION

This Memorandum Opinion addresses PlHidtbraham Mallik’'s Motion for Summary
Judgment and Memorandum in Support, ECF Rlg.the Opposition that Defendant Kathleen
Sebelius, Secretary, U.S. Department of ltheand Human ServicgSDHHS”) filed, ECF No.
27; and Plaintiff's Reply, ECF No. 28; as well Befendant's Motion to Dismiss or, in the
Alternative, for Summary Judgment, ECF N6, and Memorandum in Support, ECF No. 16-1,
Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opmoation, ECF No. 20; and Defenaiss Reply, ECF No. 22.
Having reviewed the filings, | finthat a hearing is unnecessar$eeLoc. R. 105.6. For the
reasons stated herein, Defendant’s Motion iSAGRED in part and DENIED in part, without

prejudice to renewal at the close of digery, and Plaintiff dMotion is DENIED.
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BACKGROUND*

Plaintiff, a “South-Asian American ... aolor” who was born in India, is a DHHS
employee. Compl. 11 3-5. He is the “Sett©hief, Product Management,” for which his
“primary task” is “being the Project Officer fdhe Travel Management Center (‘TMC’), which
is the Departmental Travel Agencyld. 15 & 11. DHHS hired Deéd Flynn, a Caucasian, in

June 2008, at which time he became Plaintiff's supervisbrf 13;see id 39.

Plaintiff claims that Flynn, as soon as began working as Plaintiff's supervisor,
repeatedly discriminated against him based on his race, color, and national origin. Compl. 1 13
& 53-119. He also alleges that Rty made racist statements gokles and treated Plaintiff in
such a way as to create a hostile workplace. Compl. 1 25-52. Further, Plaintiff insists that
Flynn acted this way because of PIdiigi race, color, and national origin.ld. Specific

instances of purportedly discriminatonychhostile acts are discussed below.

Plaintiff initiated contact with an dual Employment Opportunity Commission
(“EEOC”) counselor on September 16, 2010 andifda EEOC formal complaint with DHHS in
October 2010. EEOC Intake Qtiesnaire & EEOC Formal Comptat, Compl. Exs. A & B,
ECF Nos. 1-5 & 1-6. He claims that, afterfhied the EEOC complainglynn retaliated against
him, as detailed below. Compl. §{ 120-55. WB&fHS did not issue &inal decision within
180 days of Plaintiff's complaint, Plaintiff sght a hearing before the EEOC. Pl.’s Opp’'n 7;

Def.’s Mem. 5. Approximately one year latat,which point the EEOC had not issued a final

YIn reviewing the evidence related to a ronotifor summary judgment, the Court considers
undisputed facts, as well as the disputed faEwed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party. Ricci v. DeStefand57 U.S. 557, 586 (2009%eorge & Co., LLC v. Imagination
Entm’t Ltd, 575 F.3d 383, 391-92 (4th Cir. 200B@gan v. Martinez336 F. Supp. 2d 477, 480
(D. Md. 2004). When considering cross-motiémssummary judgment, the court must consider
“each motion ... individually” and view “the facts relevant to each ... in the light most
favorable to the nonmovantMellen v. Bunting327 F.3d 355, 363 (4th Cir.2003).



decision, Plaintiff filed suit in tls Court, and the EEOC dismisk¢he action before it. Pl.’s
Opp’n 8; Def.’s Mem. 5. His three-count Complaint alleges discrimination based on race, color,

or national origin; hostile workplagand retaliation. Compl. 1 156—75.

Il STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) prasdfor “the dismissal of a complaint if it
fails to state a claim upon which relief can be grantédelencia v. DrezhloNo. RDB-12-237,
2012 WL 6562764, at *4 (D. Md. Dec. 13, 2012). Thie'sipurpose “is to test the sufficiency
of a complaint and not to reselwcontests surrounding the factsg therits of a claim, or the
applicability of defenses.’ld. (quotingPresley v. City of Charlottesvilld64 F.3d 480, 483 (4th
Cir. 2006)). To that end, the Court bearanind the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. PBg|l
Atlantic Corp. v. Twombl|y550 U.S. 544 (2007), anéishcroft v. Igbgl 556 U.S. 662 (2009),
when considering a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). Specifically, a complaint must
contain “a short and plain statement of the clamwang that the pleader is entitled to relief,”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2), and mustate “a plausible claim for reliéfas “[tlhreadbare recitals of
the elements of a cause of action, supporteanbye conclusory statements, do not suffice,”
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678—79See Velencia2012 WL 6562764, at *4 (dissging standard from
Igbal and Twombly. “A claim has facial plausibility whethe plaintiff pleads factual content
that allows the court to draw the reasonainifierence that the defendant is liable for the

misconduct alleged.Igbal, 556 U.S. at 663.

If the Court considers matters outside theapings when reviewing a motion to dismiss,
as the Court does here, the Court must treantiteon as a motion for summary judgment. Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(d);Syncrude Canada Ltd. v. Highland Consulting Grp.,,IINo. RDB-12-318,

2013 WL 139194, at *2 (D. Md. Jah0, 2013). Summaryglgment is proper when the moving



party demonstrates, through “particular partamafterials in the record, including depositions,
documents, electronically storemformation, affidavits or deafations, stipulations ...,
admissions, interrogatory answers, or other maggtitiiat “there is no genuine dispute as to any
material fact and the movant is entitled to juégrnas a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a),
(©)(1)(A); see Baldwin v. City of Greensbomgo. 12-1722, 714 F.3d 828, 833 (4th Cir. 2013). If
the party seeking summary judgment demorssrdahat there is nevidence to support the
nonmoving party’s case, the burden shiftstite nonmoving party to identify evidence that
shows that a genuine dispute exists as to material f&xs. Celotex v. Catred77 U.S. 317
(1986). The existence of only“acintilla of evidence”is not enough talefeat a motion for
summary judgment.Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 251 (1986). Instead, the
evidentiary materials submitted must show faatenfiwhich the finder of fact reasonably could

find for the party opposing summary judgmeld.
Il PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff insists that summarjudgment in his favor is apppriate “due to Defendant’s
failure to properly administer &htiff's Title VIl claims and due to Defendant’s failure to
complete a proper and timely Report of Istigation (“ROI”) mandated by 29 C.F.R.
§1614.108.” Pl.’s Mem. 1. $pifically, he contends:

Defendant: 1) failed to properly adnster and process Plaintiff's formal
complaint of October 28, 2010 by losiijaintiff's formal complaint and all
related files 2) failed to process Plidfii's additional claimsof May and August
2011 within 30 days as mandated by 29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(d), 3) failed to
investigate and complete anpartial ROl within 180 daysf filing of the formal
complaint as mandated by 29 C.F.R. § 1618,.Hnhd 4) failed to show cause or
respond to Plaintiff’'s motion for sanetis in the EEOC proceeding, or provide
any reasonable explanation that would excuse such failure.

Id. at 1-2.



According to Plaintiff, if an agency fail® comply timely with 29 C.F.R. § 1614, which
governs employment discrimination claims, suchbgs'fail[ing] to show cause as to why it
failed to conduct an investigation within 180 dafsthe filing of the formal complaint,” then
“the entry of adefault judgmer{ﬁ] in favor of the complainant ithe appropriate remedy.” Pl.’s
Mem. 8 & 10. Plaintiff does not cite any fedecase law — controlling or persuasive — in
support of his argument. According to Defend®igintiff's “theory of relief is not supported
by any decision from a federal court.” Def.’s Me7. Indeed, Plaintiff concedes that “the
circumstances presented here are unprecedentefkeoteral court,” while maintaining that “the
applicable rule of law is clear and well deysdd.” Pl.’s Reply 2. Rintiff relies on three
EEOC decisionsRoyal v. Dep’t of Veterans AffajfEEOC Request No. 0520080052, 2009 WL
3163287 (Sep. 25, 200RReading v. Dep’t of Veterans AffgilSEOC Appeal No. 07A40125,
2006 WL 2992420 (Oct. 12, 2006)alahongva-Adams v. Dep't of the Interi@@EOC Appeal

No. 0120081694, 2010 WL 2253800 (May 2810). PI.’s Mem. 10.

Noting that “Plaintiffs motion for summaryjudgment is not based on the merits of
substantive federal discrimination law, but ratleer procedural errors in the handling of his
formal complaint by [DHHS],” Defendant argues thflederal courts ... have flatly refused to
create an independent causeaofion for procedural irregulars in an agency’s handling of
EEO complaint.” Def.’s Opp’n 1 (citingfoung v. Sullivan733 F. Supp. 131, 132 (D.D.C. 1990)
(citing cases)). Defendant conterttiat “[a] plaintiff’s remedy,when he [is] unhappy with the
processing of his administrative claim, [is]ftie a lawsuit challenginghe agency’s decision.”
Id. at 8 (quotingHill v. England 2005 WL 3031136, at *3 (E.D. CadNov. 8, 2005) (quotation

omitted)). Additionally, in Defendant’'s view, “Plaintiff's version of the facts regarding

2 Plaintiff clarifies in his Repl that he seeks summary judgment, not a default judgment. Pl.’s
Reply 3.



complaint processing by the agency and pilace before the EEOC are both inaccurate and

incomplete.” Id. at 1.

A review of the EEOC decisions that Plaintiff cites is informative Rayal the EEOC
concluded that there was nouslk of discretion in its pwious decision to uphold an
administrative judge’s (“AJ”) entry of defaultggment against an agen@s a sanction for the
agency’s failure to complete an investigatiwithin the 180-day period specified at 29 C.F.R.
§1614.108(e).” 2009 WL 3163287, at *1. LikewiseRimadingthe EEOC concluded that “the
AJ did not abuse her discretiam issuing a [default judgment in favor of] complainant as a
sanction against the agency fts dilatory investigtion and discovery practices.” 2006 WL
2992420, at *2 & 4. Similarly, infalahongva-Adamswhen the agency did not submit a
complete complaint file in response to the adstrative judge’s orderand the administrative
judge “found that no westigation was ever begun, mulgss completed, within the 180-day
period following the filing of complainant’s forah complaint,” the EEOC found that “the AJ’s
decision to sanction the agency [by] isag|i a default judgment was proper.” 2010 WL
2253800, at *2 & 4. Thus, clearly, precedent exists fadministrative judgdo issue a default

judgment when an agency does not comptstmvestigation in a timely fashion.

Notably, in these decisions, the EEOC observed ftae“Commissiorhas the inherent
power to protect its administrative qmess from abuse by either partyyeading 2006 WL
2992420, at *2 (emphasis added), afarf AJ has inherent powers to conduct a hearing and to
issue appropriate sanctions, including a default judgmétdyal 2009 WL 3163287at *4
(emphasis added3ee Talahongva-Adam2010 WL 2253800, at *3 (samdjpading 2006 WL
2992420,at *3 (noting thatadministrative judgesave “broad discretion in the conduct of a

hearing, including such matters as . . . the dngvaf adverse inferences and other sanctions”).



What is most significant is what these decisionthee state nor imply:They do not state that a
federal district judgehas the power to issue sanctionshsas a judgment in an employee’s
favor, for an agency’s failure to comply witBEOC procedures or tprevent abuse of the
EEOC’s administrative process. Moreover, eifetimey did so state, EEOC decisions are not
binding on this Court, and Plaifithas not identified any case in which a federal court has

granted the relief he requests.

Additionally, the EEOC decisions discuss ddfgudgments, not the summary judgment
that Plaintiff seeks. FurtheDHHS'’s alleged failings in admistiering Plainfi’'s claims and
untimely completion of its Report of Investtga, though shameful, if true, cannot form the
basis for judgment against DHHS, as this Coud hated that an empleg “may not file suit
against DHHS under Title VII for deficieres in its EEO complaint processSchaff v. Shalala
Nos. HAR-93-1251 & HAR-93-1993, 1994 WL 395751Fa&t(D. Md. July 14, 1994). Indeed,
“Title VII creates only a cause of action for disgination. It does niocreate an independent
cause of action for the mishandling of an employee’s discrimination complaimds.(guoting
Young v. Sullivan733 F. Supp. 131, 132 (D.D.C. 1998geOlivares v. NASA934 F. Supp.
698, 704 (D. Md. 1996) (“[T]here is no separatedgognized cause of action for failure to
timely process an EEO complaint.”). Consequemlgjntiff has not shown #t he is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law, and his Motion for Summary Judgment is DENBeBFed. R.

Civ. P. 56(a).



IV.  COUNT | — DISCRIMINATION BASED ON RACE, COLOR, NATIONAL
ORIGIN

A. Exhausting Administrative Remedies By Pleading Claims in EEOC
Complaint

To bring a Title VII employment discriminat claim in federal court, a plaintiff must
first “exhaust his administrative remedies . . Man Durr v. GeithnerNo. 12-2137-AW, 2013
WL 4087136, at *4 (D. MdAug. 12, 2013) (quotin®@ryant v. Bell Atl. Md., In¢.288 F.3d 124,
132 (4th Cir. 2004)). To do so, an individual wielieves that he has been discriminated against
in violation of Title VIl must file a timelycomplaint with the EEOC pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000e-5(e)(1).Balas v. Huntington Ingalls Indus., IncZ11 F.3d 401, 406 (4th Cir. 2013);
Krpan v. Bd. of Educ. of Howard Cnt\No. ELH-12-2789, 2013 WL 4400475, at *5 (D. Md.
Aug. 15, 2013). A plaintiff only exhausts higdministrative remedies as to “those
discrimination claims stated in the initial cbar those reasonably related to the original
complaint, and those developed by reasonable investigation of the original compl&iaty
Durr, 2013 WL 4087136, at *4 (quotirgvans v. Techs. Appations & Serv. Cq.80 F.3d 954,
963 (4th Cir. 1996))see Balas711 F.3d at 407 (noting that anyichs that “exceed the scope of
the EEOC charge and any charges that would ritinave arisen from amvestigation thereof
... are procedurally barred” (citations and quotation marks omitt&ghan, 2013 WL 4400475,
at *5-6 (granting motion to dismiss count fosclimination based on national origin because
plaintiff “did not include such a alm in his complaint to the EEOCRBryant 288 F.3d at 132—
33 (affirming summary judgment on claims ablor and sex discrimination, because EEOC
charge only alleged race discrimination®f import, “only the claims raised iprecomplaint
counseling(or issues or claims like or related to issues or claims raised in pre-complaint
counseling) may be alleged in a subsequembptaint filed with theagency.” 29 C.F.R.

§ 1614.105(b)(1) (emphasis added).



Defendant argues that “Plaintiff could not assace or national origin as bases for his
formal complaint ... because he had widvdn those bases of discrimination during the
informal counseling stage” andddnot “put[] race and national origin at issue before the EEOC
Administrative Judge.” Def.’s Reply 3. &~ though this contention did not surface until
Defendant’s Reply, | will exercise ndiscretion to consider it, bause “failure by the plaintiff
to exhaust administrative remediesncerning a Title VII claim gwives the federal courts of
subject matter jurisdiction over the claim.Krpan, 2013 WL 4400475, at *5 (quotintpnes v.
Calvert Grp., Ltd. 551 F.3d 297, 300-01 (4th Cir. 2009)). Moreover, even though it was not
raised in Defendant’s Motion or MemorandumgiRliff had the opportunity to respond, and did

respond, in the briefings filed with regaalPlaintiff’'s Motion for Summary Judgment.

Plaintiff's informal complaint originally allegedhter alia, discrimination based on race,
color, and national origin. EEOC Formal Confpl. According to Plaintiff, his EEO counselor
advised him to minimize his claims to increase his chances of settlement, so, on October 21,
2010, Plaintiff sent an email to Michael Cheagting Director for the Office of Diversity
Management & EEO - Operations, requesting that eare, and national onigbe redacted from
the informal complaint.SeePl.’'s Mem. 5-6; Oct. 21, 2010 Emaibef.’s Mem. Ex. Q, ECF No.
16-19; Mallik Aff. 1 21-22, Pl’'s Mem. Ex. GCF No. 21-3. Plaintiftontends that Chew
recommended against the redactions, and therBtanetiff requested the same day that race and
national origin be included in his formalroplaint, on the understanding that second request
would “supersede [his] earlier email request’l.’s Mem. 6; Mallik Aff. 23. Although it
appears that race and national origin were redaftom Plaintiff's informal complaint, it is

evident that these claims were “raised in praplaint counseling,” ashey originally were



included in the informal complainSee29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(b)(1). Therefore, these claims can

be a part of Plaintiff €EOC formal complaintSee id.

The formal complaint Plaintiff filed o®ctober 28, 2010 included discrimination based
on race, color and national origin. EE®GGrmal Compl. 3; Mallik Aff. § 24seeDef.’s Reply 3
(noting that Plaintiff “purportedo” include “race or national origin as bases for his formal
complaint”). Defendant emphasizes that these®avere not discussed in the narrative portion
of the EEOC complaint, Plaintiff did not ametalinclude these bases, and “the facts alleged
now to support discriminatory harassment (ggposed to retaliatory harassment) were not
alleged at the agency level, or even at the EH@aring stage.” Def.’s Reply 3-5. Yet, as
noted, these bases were part @lififf's formal complaint as initially filed. Also, Plaintiff had
no reason to amend when these bases wesd lish his original formal complaint and he
believed that his original EEOC complaint remained the operative compBaaMallik Aff.
11 24-31 (stating that Plaintiff believed that higidilings, when he learned that DHHS lost his
complaint, were supplements to, not replacementshie original formal complaint). Further,
one purpose of the EEOC complaintasput the employer on noticege Balas711 F.3d at 407,
and checkmarks next to “RACE,” “COLORand “NATIONAL ORIGIN” certainly put DHHS
on notice that Plaintiff allegediscrimination on these basasdaafforded DHHS the opportunity

to investigate the claims.

Moreover,

an “administrative charge of discriminai does not strictly limit a Title VII suit
which may follow.” Miles v. Dell, Inc.,429 F.3d, 480 491 (4th Cir. 2005)].
Instead, so long as “a plaintiff's clainms her judicial complaint are reasonably
related to her EEOC charge and can be expected to follow from a reasonable
administrative investigation,” she “may advance such claims in her subsequent
civil suit.” Smith v. First Union Nat'l| Bani202 F.3d 234, 247 (4th Cir. 2000). We
have therefore found exhaustion wherehbtite administrative complaint and
formal litigation concerned “discrimaf[ion] in promotions” but involved

10



different aspects of the “promotional syster@fiisholm v. U.S. Postal Ser665

F.2d 482, 491 (4th Cir.1981), and wherehbtbte EEOC charge and the complaint

included claims of retaliation by the sametor, but involved different retaliatory

conduct.Smith,202 F.3d at 248. In doing so, we hamught to strike a balance

between providing notice to employers and the EEOC on the one hand and

ensuring plaintiffs are not trippag over technicalities on the other.
Sydnor v. Fairfax County, V,a681 F.3d 591, 594 (4th Cir. 2012). Here, the material facts of
Plaintiff's suit in this Court, which are discussed in detdia, involve claims of discrimination
and harassment by the same actor and reasofa@ldw from the facts alleged in Plaintiff's
EEOC complaint. See id. Therefore, Plaintiff has not ifad to exhaust his administrative
remedies by failing to include relevant claiarsd facts in his EEOC counseling and complaint.
See id. Balas 711 F.3d at 406Krpan, 2013 WL 4400475, at *5;Vann Durr, 2013 WL
4087136, at *4.

B. Exhausting Administrative Remedes by Consulting EEO Counselor

Another requirement for exhausting admirasive remedies is that the aggrieved
individual “must consult a Counselor prior tiifg a complaint in order to try to informally
resolve the matter.” 29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(a). Haisond requirement rses “to encourage
early resolution of diganination claims on a less contentioasd less adversarial basis.”
Upshaw v. TenenbaymNo. PWG-12-3130, 2013 WL 3967942, *&t (D. Md. July 31, 2013)
(citation omitted). The deadline for contactingEeBO counselor is “within 45 days of the date
of the matter alleged to be disuninatory or, in the case of ponnel action, within 45 days of
the effective date of the actionid. 8 1614.105(a)(1), unless thedimidual has a reasonable
explanation for his delay, in whichssthe EEOC will extend the deadling,§ 1604.105(a)(2).
For example, he could demonstrate that he “mnatsnotified of” or “otherwise aware of” the
deadline, that he “did ndtnow and [it] reasonably should not have been known that the

discriminatory matter or personnel action occdyteor that he coulchot contact the counsel

11



before the deadline due to “cirogtances beyond his . . . contralid despite his due diligence

or for “other reasons” that the EEOC finds sufficietd. 8 1604.105(a)(2). Significantly, “[a]
district court [generally] must dismiss an empl@mhdiscrimination claim if the plaintiff fails to
seek EEOC counseling withindlprescribed time period.’¥an Durr, 2013 WL 4087136, at *4
(citation omitted). This is because “[a] prospective plaintiff's failure to contact an EEO
Counselor within the 45 days prescribed tentamount to failure to timely exhaust all

administrative remedies . . . .Upshaw 2013 WL 3967942, at *5 (citations omitted).

Plaintiff alleges discriminaty incidents beginning in JurZ008 and extending to March
2012, and claims that he filed “a formal comptawith the EEOC in October 2010. Compl.
19 23 & 53-155. Defendant does not challengetitheliness of Plaintiff's EEOC complaint.
Rather, she contends that Pldirdid not initiate contact witlan EEO counselor until September
16, 2010, such that “no disparate treatment claisedan discrete acts of discrimination can be
maintained by plaintiff for events occurringfbee August 2, 2010 — the ®@a45 days prior to
September 16, 2010.” Def.’'s Mem. 8-9. Plaintifincedes that he “filed his informal EEO
complaint on September 16, 2010,” Pl.’s Opp’n i6q ¢hen focuses his counterargument on the
contents of his October 2010 “formal complaird€e id.at 12. Consequdy, it is undisputed
that Plaintiff's first contacwith an EEO counselor wasn September 16, 2010. Moreover,
Plaintiff does not argue that his deadline for esting an EEO counselor after any of the earlier
alleged incidents should have been extend&ek29 C.F.R. § 1604.105(a)(2). In any event, any
attempt by Plaintiff to rely on events thatcurred prior to August 2, 2010 to support his
discrimination claim would be unavailing becau4he ‘continuing violation’ theory, which
‘allows for consideration of incidents that oo@d outside the time bar wh those incidents are

part of a single, ongoing pattern of discrimioati ... only applies ... when an employee

12



asserts a hostile work environment claingtith v. Vilsack832 F. Supp. 2d 573, 581 (D. Md.
2011) (quotingHolland v. Wash. Homes, In&87 F.3d 208, 219 (4th Cir. 2007) (citiiat’l

R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgds86 U.S. 101, 118 (2002)pee Manyara v. Bowie State Univ.
No. PWG-12-1837, 2013 WL 781790, at *3 (D. Md. F28, 2013) (noting that the majority of
the events forming the basis for plaintiff'ssdiimination claim occurred more than 300 days
before plaintiff filed her EEOC complaint, such that the complaint was not filed timely with
respect to those events; reasoning that thairmuing violation theory “‘does not apply to
discrete discriminatory actions™; limiting the mplaint to the one incident that was not time-

barred) (citation omitted).

The following paragraphs of Plaintiff's Comaint describe incidents that allegedly
transpired more than forty-five days beforaiRiiff contacted an EEO counselor and therefore
may not form the basis for Plaintifféiscrimination claim: § 53-64, 72—78, 82-93, and 95-96.
Additionally, Plaintiff claims that he “was forced work on days off on July 2, 2010, July 16,
2010, July 30, 2010, and August 13, 2010,” but “not compensated for those days of work.”
Compl. 11 79-81. Of these foimcidents, only the August3, 2010 occurrence may form the
basis for Plaintiff’'s discrimination claim. lilwdetermine whether Plaintiff has made ouirana
facie case of employment discrimination under Title VII based on the remaining paragraphs of
Plaintiffs Complaint that kege discrimination, i.e., 186—71, 79-81 (with the limitations

described above), 94, and 97-119.
C. Establishing Prima Facie Case or Showing Pretext

To establish grima faciecase of race, colar national origin dicrimination, Plaintiff
must show: “(1) membership in a protectedsst (2) satisfactory job performance; (3) an

adverse employment action; and (dss favorable treatment than similarly situated employees

13



outside the protected classlinton v. Johns Hopkins UniApplied Physics Lab., LLONo.
JKB-10-276, 2011 WL 4549177, at *5 (D. Md. Sept. 28, 2011) (citMigite v. BFI Waste
Servs, 375 F.3d 288, 295 (4th Ci2004)). If Plaitiff makes this showig, “then the burden of
production shifts to the employer to proffer a legitimate reason for the alleged discriminatory
action.” Id. (citing Merritt v. Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc.601 F.3d 289, 294 (4th Cir.
2010)). If Defendants do so, théHaintiff “must demonstrat¢éhat the employer’s proffered
reasons were merely a pretext for discriminatiold” Summary judgment in the employer’s
favor is appropriate if Plaintiff fails at either thest or third step, by “fail[ing] either to make a

prima faciecase or to rebut the employer'sffeced explanation of its actionsld.

Defendant does not challenge fiirst, second, or fourth elemenof the claim. As for
the third element, Defendant only challenges Wwaebne incident — Plaintiff's exclusion from a
photograph — constitutes an adverseleyment action, Def.'s Mem. 9apparently conceding
that the two other incidents Plaintiff allegesgCompl. 1 79-81 & 105-19, constitute adverse
employment actions. According to Plaintiff, he “was specifically removed and excluded from” a
photograph “taken to memorialize the awardattiPlaintiff and his supervisor received for
DHHS'’s transit subsidy program. Compff 97-98. Defendant arguehat Plaintiff's
“exclusion by David Flynn froma picture taken by JPMC bank . is not an adverse
employment action under Title V#s it did not affect Plaintif§ employment terms, conditions,

or benefits.” Def.’s Mem. 9.

% Curiously, Plaintiff states th&Defendant does not dispute thae first three elements have
been satisfied. The challenged issue is whetlegethre sufficient allegations that support that
similarly situated employees received favorabéatiment or that Plaintiff received unfavorable
treatment because he was of ardiorigin.” Pl.’s Opp’n 14-15. It is hard to understand how
Plaintiff reached this conclusion after raagliDefendant's Memorandum, which includes the
heading “Alleged exclusion from a picture is not an adversployment action,” and does not
include any discussion ofde favorable treatment, excepith regard to pretext.SeeDef.’s
Mem. 9.

14



“An adverse employment action is a discnatiory act which adversely affect[s] the
terms, conditions, or benefits tife plaintiff'semployment.” James v. Booz—Allen & Hamilton,
Inc., 368 F.3d 371, 375 (4th Cir.) (citationsdaquotation marks omitted). “Typically, an
adverse employment action has been found in cases of ‘discharge, demotion, decrease in pay or
benefits, loss of job title upervisory responsibility, or reded opportunities for promotion.™
Barrett v. Bio-Medical Appliations of Maryland, In¢.No. ELH-11-2835, 2013 WL 1183363, at
*18 (D. Md. March 19, 2013) (quotingoone v. Goldin178 F.3d 253, 255 (4th Cir. 1999)). The
act need not be an “ultimate employment decisioddmes 368 F.3dat 375-76 (citation

omitted), but the effect must be tangibte,at 377.

The Court is at a loss to see how failur@appear in a photograplowd affect Plaintiff's
pay, promotion opportunities, or responsibilit@s the job, and Plaintiff has not provided any
assistance, as he has not alleged that ldkugrn from the photograph impacted him in any
tangible way. The decision by his supervisorielude Plaintiff from the photograph of the
award ceremony may have been insensitive, evaal, but it did not amount to an adverse

employment action.

Plaintiff also alleges that he “was forcemwork” without compensation on August 13,
2010, one of his days off, Compl. ] 79-81, and that he was suspended fof avitreek pay
for failing to comply with his supervisor'sunreasonable order” to work on a “previously
approved day off,” as well as for “Misus|[ing]][@ravel Card” and “not processing payment of
invoices” that he clans he never receivedd. 1 105, 108 & 112-13. He asserts that his

“personnel file reflects thidisciplinary suspension,” and ah the suspension caused his

* Plaintiff's suspension was reduced to four dagsnendment, Def.’8lem. Ex. P, ECF No. 16-
18.

15



employer and colleagues to stigmatize him and left him “unable to obtain any positions that he
could transfer to.”ld. 11 113 & 117. As noted, Defendant appears to concede that these events,
both of which resulted in Plaiff losing pay, are adverse enggiment actions. Therefore,

Plaintiff has establishedmima faciecase of discrimination based on these two actions.

The burden now shifts to Defendant thow that DHHS had a legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for these two emplogtmactions. As fomrmaking Plaintiff work
without compensation on August 13, 2010, Defemdaffers no explanation whatsoever.
Therefore, summary judgment is not appropriate as to this claim, and it should proceed to trial.

Seelinton, 2011 WL 4549177, at *5.

With regard to suspending Plaintiff Wwaut pay, Defendant argues that “Plaintiff's
suspension was supported by legitimate, non-aisoétory reasons” and provides documentary
evidence setting forth those reasons. Défiesn. 9—10. In a September 17, 2010 Memorandum
from Flynn to Plaintiff, Flynn expalined that he proposed a seway suspension of Plaintiff on
three grounds. Def.’s Mem. Ex. |, ECF No. 16- First, Plaintiff usd his employer-issued
credit card (“Travel Card”) to pay for removad a parking boot from kirental car while on
business travel, “even though [P} understood this to be a cleaiolation of travel card
policy located in the HHS travel manual seettx2.9 and in [DHHS’s] Zero Tolerance memo,”
as Plaintiff was the “Program Manager of the HHS Travel Card Progtdmat 1-2. Second,
Plaintiff failed to meet an assignment deadlidespite Flynn’s repeated prompts, and, almost
four weeks after the deline, ignored Flynn’s direct ordéo go to work on a previously-
approved day off to complete the assignnieiore leaving for a two-week vacatiold. at 2—3.
Third, Plaintiff failed to process requisihs and invoices ia timely fashion.ld. at 3—4. In an

October 14, 2010 Decision on Proposed Suspension, Timothy A. Stitely, Director,
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Administrative Operations Sece, Program Support Center,ssained the charges Flynn made
against Plaintiff and affirmethe penalty that Flynn proposedDef.’s Mem. Ex. O, ECF No.
16-17. Additionally, on January 3, 2011, Terry L. Hurst, Deputy Director of the Program
Support Center, sustained the charges and supg@ldaediff's suspension. Def.’s Mem. Ex. T,
ECF No. 16-27. Plaintiff fails t@how that these rearss were pretext; indeed, he appears to
concede that they were legitimate as he doésaddress the legitimacy of the reasons for his
suspension in his Oppositién. Consequently, summary judgniein Defendant's favor is
appropriate as to this discrete cla@mithough not the entirety of Count eeLinton, 2011 WL

4549177, at *5.
V.  COUNT Il = PLAINTI FF'S HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT CLAIM

Under Title VII, it is “an unlawful emplyment practice for an employer . . . to
discriminate against any inddaal with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment, because of such irdiral’s race, color, ... or national origin.” 42
U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). To laetionable under 42 U.S.C. § 20e®@)(1), discrimination need
not be “economic” or “tangible.’Harris v. Forklift Systems, Inc510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993)
(citations and quotation marks omitted). RathH§w]hen the workplace is permeated with
‘discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult’ thé ‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
the conditions of the victim’s employment aodkate an abusive working environment,” Title

VIl is violated.” Id. (quoting Meritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. VinsoA77 U.S. 57, 65, 67 (1986)

® As notedMr. Stitely amended the Decision on Gleer 19, 2010, suspending Plaintiff for two,
2-day periods without pay, in lieu of one, 7-day period. Amendment 1.

® Although Plaintiff alleges that “Flynn initiatedisciplinary suspensioagainst Plaintiff for
trivial, unreasonable, and false allegatiasfsemployment miscondu¢ Pl’'s Opp’n 5, and
insists that “Flynn was motivated to institutecBuaction due to Plaintiff's color, race, and
national origin,”id. at 9, these conclusory argumentsndbamount to a showing of pretext.
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(internal brackets and quotation marks omitted)).claim for hostile work environment based
on race, color, or national origin is actionablelemTitle VII if the plaintiff shows that “[|he was
subjected to harassment in h[is] workplace thas: (1) unwelcome; (2) based on race [or color
or national origin]; (3) severe or peruas and (4) imputable to the employerinton v. Johns
Hopkins Univ. Applied Physics Lab., LL.8o. JKB-10-276, 2011 WL 4549177, at *11 (D. Md.
Sept. 28, 2011xee EEOC v. Xerxes Corp39 F.3d 658, 668—69 (4th Cir. 201Bgnhi v. Papa

John’s USA, In¢.No. RWT-12-665, 2013 WL 3788573, at *8 (D. Md. July 18, 2013).

To establish a hostile workplace, Plaintiff ol that Flynn, while working as Plaintiff's
supervisor, “stated his racigipinions and views of Indians to Plaintiff.” Compl. | 25.
Specifically, Flynn stated that during his frequent trips to Kuwait and Dubai, he “observed
thousands of migrant day laborers, mostly fromdia and Pakistan,ivho “were subject to
disparaging treatment by wealthy Aratzsid “only performed menial tasks.d. § 26. Flynn
allegedly told Plaintiff:

“[L]et’'s say there are two lines and onEthem was really long with only white

people and the other line was much shobigt with only Indians; | would not

pick the one with tl Indians because the[re] aregntikely about three times as

many people in that line as the line witle tivhite people, it's just shorter because

all the Indians are sticking together because they have no concept of personal
space.”

Id. 7 29. Plaintiff asserts th&tlynn also said that “Indians ¥& bad personal hygiene and in
general smell bad and that was#rer reason why he didn’t watd be in the line with other

Indians.” Id. § 31.

Plaintiff also claims that Flynn made déspging comments aboptople of color and
non-American national origin, such bg making a joke about Mexicand. | 35. Specifically,

Flynn said

18



“[T]here were two Mexicanthat crossed over the bordand snuck in to catch a
baseball game in the U.S.; when suddenly one of the Mexicans said ‘Oh my God!
They are saying your name on the lagmkaker! | think they are on to you!
[b]ecause the loud speakers were blaring Oh Say.”

Id. Flynn had stated that it was a “funny joke ahiudn,” which was the name of a contractor,
and Plaintiff asked him to explain the humadd. According to Plaintiff, “Mr. Flynn explained
that ‘Oh Say sounds like d3e’”; Plaintiff asked how the jokeelated to Juan, and “Mr. Flynn
waved his hand and said ‘Juan — Jose . . . they are the same théhgAdditionally, “in front

of the entire travel staff aipproximately ten persons,” Flymurportedly said to Adnan Akhtar,
an American contractor who was of Pakistanicdes ‘You must be in mourning’ . . . ‘because
your leader Bin Laden is dead.Td. {1 37-38. Plaintiff claims that “to Mr. Flynn, all people of
brown color skin of South Asian origin lookedike and were the same,” because Flynn once
referred to Akhtar byPlaintiff's name. Id. 1 48-51. Plaintiff adds that, after mistakenly
confusing Akhtar with Plaiiff and being “properly correed, Mr. Flynn intentionally and
jokingly continued to incorrectly refer tdr. Akhtar as Plaintiff.” Compl.  51Plaintiff also
claims that Flynn and other Caucasidhrew darts at agiure of President Obama in the office.
Id. § 130. In Plaintiff's view Flynn's behavior “establishedn atmosphere where other
Caucasian employees and contractors undercoimérol and supervision of Mr. Flynn made
similar comments and jokes about racial minorities and persons of color and of non-American
national origin with impunity.” Id. § 39. Plaintiff further desibes comments that Andrew

Patton’ a contractor, made that Plaintiff found offensive. ] 40—45.

’ Patton allegedly asked why the Government shtwhste [his] taxpayer money to save some
black person all the way in Ata”; joked that “ ‘apizza and a Jew’ ... ‘both belong in the
oven’; and said that “Akhtagats ‘smelly food’ and ‘stinks uihe office.” Compl. 1Y 41, 44 &
45.
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According to Plaintiff, Flynn once “became teemely enraged against Plaintiff . . .
because Plaintiff correctly informed him that feadecontractors could not be placed in a position
where they would approve or disapprove of falemployees’ actions.” Compl. {{ 82 & 84.
Flynn “violently slapped his computer monitoif the table with his left hand,” threw a chair
across the room, and “punch[ed] the door frame with both his fists at full force, making them
bloody, while screaming at Plaintiff ‘gebut of my office!” repeatedly.” 1d. {1 85-87.
Additionally, Plaintiff claims that “Mr. Flynnwould intentionally withhold basic necessary
information pertaining to DHHS employees frdtaintiff such as building relocation plans and
a relocation of Plaintifs office on March 2, 2012.'ld. § 122. He also alleges that his requests
to work from home were denied, and when a i@mbor of African origin submitted a request to
work from home, Flynn denied the request imuaniliating and sarcastic manner, even though he

approved similar requests from Caucasian workergf 131-35.

Defendant challenges the seccend third elements of Plaintiff's claim. Def.’s Mem.
12-18. Regarding whether Plaintiff's supervisa@fleged actions were based on race, color, or
national origin, Defendant comtds that Flynn did not harboryadiscriminatory animus because
“Flynn took overt actions in 200® support Plaintiff,” such asehiring him and giving him “an
‘Exceptional’ rating.” Id. at 15. Defendant puts a differesptin on the facts alleged by the
Plaintiff. In her view, Flynn’s alleged “thoughts and observations on Indians working in the
Middle East,” which included “comments regiagl the personal space and hygiene of Indians
observed in India,” were “nothing more ath travel reminiscences about Mr. Flynn’s
opportunities to observe Indians thg his time in the Middle East,” such that they conveyed no
discriminatory animus.d. at 12-13. She insists that tharooents were “an attempt by a new

supervisor to make small talk about a topic inolkithis subordinate might have an interest,” and
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that the comments “suggest[] that Flynn felmpathy for the Indians not the disdain that
Plaintiff infers.” Id. at 13. Defendant characterizeamgoof Flynn’s comments as “poor
attempts at humor.”ld. at 17 (citing Compl. 1 33-38, 46-52pefendant does not deny that
Flynn threw darts at a portrait Bresident Obama, but posits tti@s “was not necessarily based
on a discriminatory motive,”—albut conceding that a jury might well find that it walsl. at
17-18. In her view, the comments that Pattoade cannot be imputed to Flynn because
Plaintiff does not allege that Flynn was present or that Plaintiff reported the comiaeratis17.
Additionally, she argues that “nothing about Ridf's account of the allegedly heated April
2010 interview with Mr. Flynn suggests overt ra@almus or other discriminatory motiveld.

at 15. Plaintiff insists that HJow to interpret Flynn’'s commentegarding Indians is a material
fact in dispute.” Pl.’s Opp’'i6. Defendant counters that “naasenable jury could conclude
that the comments about Indgarallegedly made by Mr. yhn were discriminatory in

intent....” Def.’s Reply 7.

Plaintiff states that the affidavits of twollEagues, Robert Chang and Veronica Carroll,
show that “Flynn would make jokes about Pldirand make false comments that Plaintiff was
incompetent, was not knowledgeable, and did no wmtke other staff.” Pl.’s Opp’n 5. This is
true: Mr. Chang stated thdaMr. Flynn would make commestjiokes about Mr. Mallik’s
performance during his absence,” Chang A&ff.Pl.'s Opp’'n Ex. C, ECF No. 20-3, and Ms.
Carroll stated that Flynn “was extremely pdrtia the contractors ithe office” and “would
make comments to the contractors about Mrlikvil the time about how incompetent he was
and he didn’t know his job.” Carroll Aff. 3, PL.@pp’n Ex. C. But, neither affiant said that the

jokes or comments welgased orrace, color, or national origin, or mentioned the frequency of
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the comments. Moreover, Mr. Chang stateat tie never “withessed Mr. Flynn subjecting Mr.

Mallik to harassment.” Chang Aff. 2.

Thus, on the record currently before me, abhdent the taking of any discovery by the
parties, only Plaintiff's own assertions supportdilegations of hostility based on race, color, or
national origin. But, under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, as amended in 2010, facts in support of or
opposition to a motion for summary judgment needogonh admissible form; the requirement is
that the party identify facts thabuld beput in admissible form.See Niagara Transformer
Corp. v. Baldwin Techs., IndNo. DKC-11-3415, 2013 WL 2919705, at *1 n.1 (D. Md. June 12,
2013) (“Importantly, ‘the objection [now] contenapeéd by the amended Rule is not that the
material “has not” been submitted in admissifdrm, but that it “cannot” be.”) (quotingidgell
v. Astrue No. DKC-10-3280, 2012 WL 707008, at {®. Md. Mar. 2, 2012)). Certainly,
Plaintiff could provide the sanmsatements by affidavit, deptisn testimony, or trial testimony.
And, provided it is established that he has perskmalviedge of the events that he has described
in his pleadings and motions papers, andtésimony otherwise compBewith the rules of
evidence, what he alleges, if believed by thg,juvould be evidence of a hostile workplace.
While it may prove that, following discovery, Plffis allegations would not be sufficient to
withstand summary judgment in the face of thets demonstrated by Defendant, Plaintiff has

made a sufficient showing to allow the caseraceed to discovery regarding this claim.

Nonetheless, the Court may not “transmute. ordinary workplace disagreements
between individuals of different races into actionable race discriminatldawkins v. PepsiCo,
Inc., 203 F.3d 274, 276 (4th Cir. 2000). Rather, dlgg sufficient evidence is required to
transform an ordinary conflict . . . into an actibleaclaim of discriminatin” because the “[lJaw

does not blindly ascribe to rack personal conflicts between indduals of different races. To
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do so would turn the workplace into a libgs cauldron of racial suspicion.ld. at 282.
Accordingly, Flynn's alleged violent acts iApril 2010 and his purported withholding of
information cannot be ascribed discriminatory utaees, where there i evidence that these
acts stemmed from discriminatory animuSee id. In stark contrasthowever, the comments
about Indians and Mexicans, as well as thenmoent about Osama Bin Laden directed at an
individual of Pakistani descent, if true, ungtienably are based ormae, color, or national
origin. It is of no moment thalynn may have been trying toitiate conversation or make a
joke. See Worldwide Network ServisLC v. DynCorp Int’l, LLC 365 Fed. App’x 432, 454 (4th
Cir. 2010) (stating that “testimony . . . that [Dyn@@xecutives] laughed edcial jokes directed

at Worldwide Services” was “sonaidence of racial animus”).

Even though Plaintiff has identified evidenehich, if accepted by the jury, would show
that Flynn made comments with discriminatorynaus, he also has to identify evidence that
would show that Flynn’s actions were severe pervasive. To #t end, Plaintiff must
demonstrate that “the workplace is permeatéith viscriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and
insult’ that is ‘sufficiently sevee or pervasive to alter the cations of the victim’s employment
and create an abusive working environmentHarris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 21
(1993) (quotingVieritor Savings Bank, FSB v. VinsatY7 U.S. 57, 65, 67 (1986)). The hostility
must be both objective and subjective; i.e.mtist be such that it “would reasonably be
perceived [by a reasonable person], and is perceived [by Plaintiff], as hostile or ablchia.”
22. “Factors going to the severityd pervasiveness of discrimatory harassment include “the
frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its s#ye whether it is phyigally threatening or

humiliating, or a mere offensive utteranceidawhether it unreasonably interferes with an
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employee's work performanceBanhi 2013 WL 3788573, at *8 (quotingarris, 510 U.S. at

23); see Okoli v. City of Baltimoy&48 F.3d 216, 220 (4th Cir. 2011) (same).

This Court recently discussed the “high bar” seEBOC v. Sunbelt Rentals, In&21
F.3d 306, 315 (4th Cir. 2008), which a plaintiff must clear tobdistathat the offensive conduct
was sufficiently severe and pervasive:

Intermittent acts of harassment are insufficient to establish that a hostile work

environment is severe or pasive. Indeed, Tle VII does not manda civility in

the workplace. Further, a supervisosgict management style or degree of

supervision is not evidence of actionable harassment. However, a work

environment can be considered hostile if it is “consumed by remarks that
intimidate, ridicule, and maliciously demetire status of [a protected group].”

Engler v. Harris Corp. No. GLR-11-3597, 2012 WL 3745710, at *5 (D. Md. Aug. 28, 2012)
(internal citations omitted). Notably, “isolated incidents (unless extremely serious) will not
amount to discriminatory changes in tkerms and conditions of employment.’Faragher v.

City of Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 788 (1998) (citations omitteRpmeo v. APS Healthcare
Bethesda, In¢.No. WDQ-11-2208, 2012 WL 1852264, at ¢{®. Md. May 17, 2012) (quoting
Faraghel). Rather, “courts usually only allow hids work environment claims to proceed
where the discriminatory abuse is near constatentimes of a violent athreatening nature, or
has impacted the employee’s work performanc&dwwaab v. Va. Linen Serv., In@29 F.

Supp. 2d 757, 777 (D. Md. 2010).

Case examples of actionable hostile warkiemnment claims providmsight in the level
of severity and pervasiveness requiredOkoli v. City of Baltimore648 F.3d 216, 220 (4th Cir.
2011), the Fourth Circuit concluded that the gififipresent[ed] a strong claim for hostile work
environment” where

she suffered upwards of twely&2) incidents in justdur months: (1) disparaging

jokes about gays and leshs& (2) comments about Okalnd Jacuzzi fantasy; (3)
comments about Okoli and group sextésy; (4) questions about Okoli's
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underwear; (5) comments about sexudtrens with another African—American
woman; (6) additional inquies about Okoli sitting on fgand Jacuzzi fantasy; (7—
10) three incidents of fotidg her leg under a tablell) forcible kissing; (12)
more propositions to join in a Jacuzzi fantasy.

The court noted that “[s]Jome tifie incidents may have beerveee enough to be actionable in
and of themselves.”ld. In Mosby-Grant v. City of Hagerstow830 F.3d 326, 335 (4th Cir.
2010), the court concluded that, at the Poliaademy where the plaintiff was enrolled, “[t]he
work environment was sekxe or pervasive enough to sustaplaintiff's claim of hostile work
environment based on sex, reasoning that “[slegomments were pervasive ... and were
frequently made to Mosby-Grant or in her preseh The court observed that, in less than five
months, the plaintiff “heard her fellow recruitrazenly and repeatedly describe a sexual
encounter with a sixteen yeadogirl” and “heard recruits ah instructors make dozens of
references to women as ‘bitches,’ ‘crazy,” ‘whitash,’ ‘ghetto,” and ‘postitutes,’” was called a
‘bitch’ herself by an instructor, and was cmtently subjected tcselective taunting.” Id.
Additionally, the incidents causthe plaintiff “significant embonal distress” and negatively
impacted her work performanced. at 336. InHoyle v. Freightliner, LLC650 F.3d 321 (4th
Cir. 2011), during a Yie- or six-month periodhe plaintiff's coworkersrepeated[ly] display[ed]
... sexualized photos of womeind. at 332, “yelled” at her for complaining about the photos to
her supervisor, used a nude picture of anan as a company computer’'s screen saslegt
327, commented about not being atieé'see up under [her] part@and attached a tampon to a
key ring,id. at 326. Noting that “[tlhe question of whet harassment was sufficiently severe or

pervasive is ‘quintessentially a ation of fact,” the Fourth Circtireversed the district court’s

grant of summary judgment for the employéd. at 333.

Also informative are cases in which claims of hostile work environment failed. In

Hopkins v. Balt. Gas & Elec. Gor7 F.3d 745, 753 (4th Cir. 199@he plaintiff's supervisor
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“bumped into him, positioned a magnifying glassrokis crotch, flipped s tie over to see its
label, gave him a congratulatoryskiin the receiving line at [th@aintiff’'s] wedding, and stared

at him in the bathroom.” Yet, the coumbted that the conduct was “temporally diffuse,
ambiguous, and often not directecesiically at [the plaintiff],” as “the incidents that Hopkins
recount[ed] occurred intermittently over a seyear period, with gaps between incidents as
great as a year,” and plaintiff did not claimathhis supervisor “ever made an overt sexual
proposition or touched Hophks in a sexual manner.Id.; see id.at 754 (citing cases in which
hostile work environment claims failed “despite evidence that female police officer was
subjected to pornographic material placed indtation mailbox and to fellow officers’ sexually
explicit conversations” and, in another case, “wgh®nly specific factual allegation of sexual
harassment [was] occasional tickling [by plaintiff's male superior] in the hallway’) (citations

omitted).

Plaintiff claims that Flynn and a contractorade a series of offensive comments over
four years. Compl. 11 25-51, 130-35. It is far fdear whether Plaintiff's specific allegations
rise to the level of actionablearassment that the Fourth Citcbas described. The offensive
comments were not “physicaltpreatening or humiliating.See Banhi2013 WL 3788573, at
*8; Harris, 510 U.S. at 23Tawwaab 729 F. Supp. 2d at 777. As noted above, the one
physically threatening act Plaintiff alleged is matributable to racial animus and therefore does
not support a hostile work environment clairBee Harris 510 U.S. at 23Banhi 2013 WL
3788573, at *8Tawwaal 729 F. Supp. 2d at 777Additionally, Plaintff has not claimed that

the alleged hostility “unreasonably interé¢d] with [his] work performance.”See Harris 510

U.S. at 23;Banhi 2013 WL 3788573, at *8Tawwaab 729 F. Supp. 2d at 777. Thus,

26



cumulatively, these “[intermittent acts,” evenhbstile, are unlikely tacreate a severely or

pervasively hostile work environmengee Engler2012 WL 3745710, at *5.

Yet, the repeated comments exceed the cdnithat the Fourth Circuit has concluded
does not constitute actionable harassment. Moreover, as noted, discovery has not begun in this
case, and the record is sparsélthough Plaintiff's allegationsif true, may not create a
pervasively hostile environment, Plaintiff's Complaiciaims that they are indicative of a larger
pattern of conduct by Flynn. For example, afiymn called Akhtar by Plaintiff's name, he
“‘intentionally and jokinglycontinuedto incorrectly refer to Mr. khtar as Plaintiff.” Compl.

1 51 (emphasis added). Also, Rtdf claims generally that[tljuring Mr. Flynn’s employment
with DHHS andthrough the presenMr. Flynn openly discriminated against Plaintiff because of
his race, color of skin, and national origimttwimpunity and thereby, created a pervasive and
severe environment of hostility for Plaintiff duetis race, color, and tianal origin,” and that
“[t]he series of actionand discriminatory condutty Mr. Flynn established @ntinuoushostile
environment and on-going harassment against Plaintiffl” 19 20 & 22 (emphasis added).

Thus, information gleaned during discoyenay bolster Plaintiff's claim.

The Court is mindful that the Fourth Circhias stated repeatedlyat “the question of
whether “harassment was sufficiently severepervasive is quintessentially a question of
fact.”” Mosby-Grant 630 F.3d at 335 (quotingartsell v. Duplex Products, Inc123 F.3d 766,
773 (4th Cir. 1997) (quotingParoline v. Unisys Corp 879 F.2d 100, 105 (4th Cir. 1989),
vacated in part on other groundd00 F.2d 27 (4th Cil990) (en banc))keeHoyle 650 F.3d at
333. A jury considering this questipespecially if discovery isditful for Plainiff, could find
that Plaintiff sufficienty established the pervasiveness ofnialg conduct to prevail in his claim

for hostile workplace. Although Defendant magee her motion at theooclusion of discovery
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and ultimately may prevail, for now, at theegtlings stage, Plaintiff's hostile workplace claim

survives.
VI. COUNT Il = PLAINTIFF'S RETALIATION CLAIM

42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-3(a) provides that it idawful for an employer “to discriminate
against any individual . . .dgause he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment
practice by [Title VII], or because he has made a@h, testified, assistedl; participated in any
manner in an investigation, proceeding, or meaunder [Title VII].” Although “[t]he plain
meaning of the statutory language provideseamtidn of an employee’s opposition activity when
the employee responds to an actual unlawful employment practice,” the Fourth Circuit has
“[r]lead[] the language generously gove effect to its purposend “held that opposition activity
is protected when it responds toe@mployment practice that the employeasonably believes
unlawful.” Jordan v. Alternative Res. Corpgl58 F.3d 332, 338 (4th C006). To succeed on a
Title VII retaliation claim, “a plaintiff mustshow that (1) [s]he was engaged in protected
activity, (2) the defendant acted adversely magfaiher], and (3) ... there was a causal
connection between the first two elementB&nhi v. Papa John’s USA, IndNo. RWT-12-665,

2013 WL 3788573, at *7 (D. Md. July 18, 2013).

Defendant contends that “insufficient hesment has been alleged to constitute a
retaliatory harassment claim.” Def.’s Mer8. Additionally, Defendant argues that “the
allegations regarding supposed harassing conduetrtbothers . . . make[] no sense as a basis
for retaliation against Plaiifit for his EEOC complaint.” Id. at 18-19. Plaintiff responds by
identifying the instances of tadiation that he has alleged. Pl.’s Opp’'n 18-19. Specifically, he
claims that Flynn retaliated taf Plaintiff filed his EEOC comigint by (1) “reject[ing] the

reimbursement receipts [Plaintiff submitted] although they were the exact same expenses that

28



Flynn had approved a year earlier,” (2) delayipgraval for Plaintiff to register for and attend a
convention in 2011, so that Plaintiff had “to sokde last minute to arrange transportation and
lodging plans separately and away from thieision’s attendees,”and (3) “chastising,
intimidating, and dissuading” two of Plaintsf colleagues “from even coming to Plaintiff's

office.” Id.

Defendant also challenges causality. BeMem. 18-19. In Defendant’'s view, the
alleged retaliatory evés—which occurred ateast four monthsafter October 2010, when
Plaintiff filed his EEOC complaint—"are simplpa® remote to draw a causal inference between
the formal complaint and the alleged retaliatory activitd. at 18. He also argues that
“Plaintiff does not allege that there was any rovadication that actins after the formal
complaint were taken by Mr. Flynn because of the formal complaidt.at 19. Defendant cites
no supporting authority for her arguments. PI#intiting authority, counters that “Defendant’s
extreme position of temporal causation has no sappdne law.” Pl.’s Opp’n 18. Plaintiff filed
his Opposition on March 1, 2013. On June 24, 201tBowt addressing temporal proximity, the
Supreme Court clarified that tlsausal relationship must be one of “but-for causation,” as “Title
VII retaliation claims require proof that the desire to retaliate was the but-for cause of the
challenged employment actionUniv. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassh83 S. Ct. 2517, 2528,
2533 (2013). This means that the employer @aubt have taken thadverse employment
action against the plaintiff if the employer were mying to retaliate against the plaintiff for

engaging in a protected activityaee id.

Plaintiff has not shown th&tlynn’s alleged adverse actiongre taken only for purposes
of retaliating against Plaintiff for filing an EEOC complairBee id. Although Plaintiff alleges

that “[sJubsequent to the filingf Plaintiff’'s formal complaintagainst Mr. Flynn . . ., Mr. Flynn
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retaliated against Plaintiff in additional wagsd created a more hostile work environment
against Plaintiff,” Plaintiffalso claims that “Mr. Flynrcontinuedto engage in a pattern of
discrimination.”  Compl. 7121 (emphasis adde Thus, Plaintiff alleges that Flynn
discriminated against him, as he purportedly ltlone before Plaintiffiled the complaint.
Further, Plaintiff alleges that Flynn discrimiad against other employees of color before and
after Plaintiff filed the complaint, Compf{lf 37-38 & 131-35, but he does not allege that the
other employees filed complaints such that Flgractions could be congited retaliatory as to
those employees. Consequently, even taking t#fanallegations as true, after he filed his
complaint, he was not treated differently fronfdve he filed it; nor was he treated differently
from employees of color who had not filedngolaints. He certainly has not shown that

retaliation “was the but-forause” of Flynn’s actionsSee Nassarl33 S. Ct. at 2528.

Plaintiff cannot make out prima faciecase of retaliationSeeid. Consequently, he has
failed to offer evidence to create a “genuine ésss to any material fact,” and Defendant is
entitled to judgment as a matter ofvl@n Plaintiff's claim for retaliation.SeeFed. R. Civ. P.

56(a).
VII. CONCLUSION

In sum, Defendant’'s Motion to Dismiss or,time Alternative, for Summary Judgment is
GRANTED in part and DENIED ipart, without prejudice to remal at the close of discovery,
and Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment is BEED. This case shall proceed as to Count
I, discrimination based on race, color, or naticovajin, but only as to Rintiff's claim that he
was required to work on a day off, August 13, 204iBhout compensation. This case also shall

proceed as to Count Il, hostile work environment.
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Defendant shall file an Answer no lateathSeptember 18, 2013, at which time the Court
will enter a Scheduling Order and Discovery Qrdad schedule a Fed. R. Civ. P. conference

call with the parties to discuss further pretrial proceedings.

A separate order shall issue.

Dated: August 28, 2013 1S/

Paul W. Grimm
United States District Judge

lyb

31



